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In ~eMatter of:

Ke el Lumber Supply, Inc.
HC84 Box 4
New Creek Drive
Kel1ser, West Virginia 26726,

Respondent,

Kes el Lumber Supply, Inc.
Ne Creek Drive
Ke er, West Virginia 26726,

Facility.

MOTION FOR DEFAULT ORDER

Pursuant to 40 C.P.R. § 22.17(b) of the Consolidated Rules ofPractice Governing the

Adlinistrative Assessment ofCivil Penalties and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension of

perrits ("Consolidated Rules"), 40 c.P.R. Part.22, the United States Environmental Protection

Age cy, Region III ("Complainant") respectfulIy moves for the issuance of a Default Order

agai Ist Respondent, Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc., for its failure to file a timely Answer to the

Co laint, Compliance Order and Notice of Right to Request a Hearing ("Complaint"), which

was lied on September 12, 2006. In support of this Motion, the Complainant avers as folIows:

The Complaint alIeges that the Respondent violated Subtitle C of the Resource

Con ervation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), 42 U.S.c. §§ 6921 et seq. and the authorized West

Virg ia Hazardous Waste Management Regulations ("WVHWMR'j, Title 33, Leg. Rule,

Divi ion of Environmental Protection, Office of Waste Management, Series 20, Parts 33-20-1



gh 33-20-15. More specifically, the Complaint alleged that Respondent operated a

dous waste storage facility without a permit or interim status and failed to: have a

cont gency plan for the Facility; have a closure plan for the Facility; have a contingent post­

closLe plan for the Facility; provide site security; demonstrate financial assurance; obtain written

asseLments for two hazardous waste tanks that did not have secondary containment; obtain a

wri n assessment of its wood treatment drip pad; meet the hydraulic conductivity requirement

for i s wood treatment drip pad, inspect the wood treatment drip pad weekly; and properly store

land-disposal restricted waste.

The Complaint was served upon the Respondent on September 12, 2006 by Federal

Expr ss, overnight delivery. Federal Express is "a reliable commercial delivery service that

prov'des written verification of delivery", within the meaning of 40 C.F.R. § 22.5(b)(l). A tme

and orrect copy of the Complaint is attached Exhibit 1 to Complainant's accompanying

Me randum of Law. The Respondent and opposing counsel received copies of the Complaint

on S ptember 13,2006, as evidenced by the FedEx Tracking Reports, Exhibits 2a, 2b, 2c to

Com, lainant's accompanying Memorandum of Law

In the Complaint, Complainant proposed the assessment of a statutory maximum civil

admi istrative penalty against the Respondent, pursuant to Section 3008(a)(3) and (g) ofRCRA,

42 U..C. § 6928(a)(3) and (g). For the purposes of this Default Motion, Complainant has

calcujated and now proposes the assessment of a specific penalty in the amount of $335,816.00.

The p~oposedpenalty is based upon consideration of the statutory penalty factors set forth in

secti13008(a)(3) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(3), which include the seriousness of the

Violation and any good faith efforts to comply with the applicable requirements. These factors
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wer applied to the particular facts and circumstances of this case with specific reference to

EP 's October, 1990 RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, as revised in June, 2003 ("RCRA Civil

Penalty Policy"), annexed as Exhibit 3 to Complainant's accompanying Memorandum ofLaw,

Whi~ refire' <h, ""'.""y ,"'''I'y,"'Ni, """ "',~~, furth "' """00 3OIlS("X3) ood (s) of

RC ,42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a)(3) and (g), the appropriate Adjustment ofCivil Monetary Penalties

for !flution, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part I? and the September 21, 2004 memorandum by Acting

EP Assistant Administrator Thomas V. Skinner entitled Modifications to EPA Penalty Policies

to L rplement the Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation A4Justment Rule (" Skinner Memorandum"),

ann xed as Exhibit 4 to Complainant's accompanying Memorandum of Law. , See Declaration

nna R. Henry, Exhibit 5 to Complainant's accompanying Memorandum of Law. See also,

ary ofViolations and Penalty Computation Worksheets, Exhibits 7(a) and 7(b) to

Co lainant's accompanying Memorandum of Law.

Under the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, a company's inability to pay usually will be

considered only iftlte issue is raised by the respondent and tlte burden of raising and presenting

eVid1nce regarding any inability to pay a particular penalty rests witlt tlte respondent RCRA Civil

Pena~ty Policy, at 39. Respondent herein failed to provide written financial documentation

reqJsted by Complainant. Complainant reviewed the limited financial information tltat tlte

Resp!ndent did provide to Complainant's c~unsel in pre-filing negotiations. Complainant also

I Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19, and as provided in the Skinner Memorandum and in tlte
RC Civil Penalty Policy, penalties for RCRA violations occurring after January 30, 1997
were Increased by 10% to account for inflation, not to exceed a $27,500.00 per violation
statutrry maximum penalty. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19, and as provided in the Skinner
MemliJrandum, penalties for RCRA violations occurring after March 15,2004 and before January
13,2 09 have been increased by an additional 17.23% to account for subsequent inflation, not to
excee a $32,500.00 per violation statutory maximum penalty.
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sought out and reviewed additional financial information submitted by Kessel Lumber Supply,

Inc. Ito the EPA Region III Hazardous Site Cleanup Division (hereinafter, "HSCD"), Cost

Rec1very Branch in response to an information request letter issued under the authority of

sectlon I04(e) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act

of I 80, as amended ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. Section 9604(e).' However, Complainant is

una Ie to determine the remaining assets that the Respondent may have available to pay the

prop sed civil penalty. See, Memorandum ofLeo J. Mullin, EPA Cost Recovery Expert, and

Me orandum a/Gary Morton, EPA Environmental Protection Specialist, Exhibits 6 and 8 to

Co rlainant's accompanying Memorandum of Law.

Respondent failed to raise or pursue its pre-filing claim of inability to pay a penalty in the

cont xt of the litigation and failed to meet its burden to present evidence regarding any claimed

inabi ity to pay a penalty. Therefore, Complainant made no adjustment to the proposed penalty

base upon a claim of inability to pay any no such adjustment is appropriate on the record of this

proc .eding.

In the Complaint, Complainant ordered Respondent to perform certain"compliance

tasks." Because Respondent did not file an answer to the Complaint, or otherwise request a

heari g, this Compliance Order automatically became a final order 30 days after it was served.

2 Complainant has learned that the information request letter was prompted by HSCD's
performance of a Removal Site Evaluation of the Facility in the Spring of2007 which revealed
that ood-treatment operations conducted by the Respondent were the source of ongoing releases
of ars nic and other hazardous substances into the environment and that such releases posed an
actual threat to human health, welfare and the environment and HSCD's anticipated need to
enga in removal activities and expend federal Superfund monies at the Facility (which did, in
fact. ccur over the period of April 2008 through September 2008). See Declaration ofJeanna R.
Hen , Exhibit 5 at 3 - 4.
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40 .F.R. § 22.37(b). Therefore, it is not necessary for the Regional Judicial Officer to take any l
furt er action with regard to the Compliance Order.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22. I5(a), the deadline for Respondent to file an Answer to the

Co plaint was 30 days after service of the Complaint, or October 12,2006. Respondent has not

an Answer to the Complaint as of the date of filing of this Motion. Counsel for Respondent

has tated orally that Respondent does not intend to file an Answer to the Complaint at any time.

" tmm" wi.. 4il C.F.R. § 22.15(d), "[ijoi'= of_""""" '" """", _, oc "",1"'" my
material factual allegation contained in the complaint constitutes an admission of the allegation."

40 C.F.R. § 22.17(a) provides, in relevant part, that "[a] party may be found to be in

defarlt, after motion, upon failure to file a timely answer to the complaint ...". 40 C.F.R.

§ 22 17(b) further provides, in relevant part, that "[w]hen the Presiding Officer finds that a

default has occurred, [sI]he shall issue a default order against the defaulting party as to any or all

PartJ of the proceeding unless the record shows good cause why a default order should not be

issul. .. The relief proposed in the ... motion for default shall be ordered unless the requested

reliJ is clearly inconsistent with the record of the proceeding or the Act"

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.17(a), Respondent's failure to file an Answer within thirty

(30) ays of serVice of the Complaint "constitutes, for purposes of the pending proceeding only,

an a mission of all facts alleged in the Complaint and a waiver of Respondent's right to contest

such ~actual allegations." In light of Respondent's admission of all material factual allegations in

the C mplaint and on the basis of the law, the facts, the supporting evidence and the rationale in

supp rt of Complainant's requested relief, as fully set forth in the accompanying Memorandum

of La and the attachments thereto, the Complainant respectfully moves:

5



(a) for the entry of a Default Order against the Respondent, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §
22.17(b) of the Consolidated Rules; and

(b) for the full assessment of the $335,816.00 civil penalty proposed above, and such
other relief as the Regional Judicial Officer determines to be fair and equitable,
against Respondent and in the form of the proposed Order that is attached hereto
for your consideration.

Such requested relief is clearly consistent with the record in this proceeding and with RCRA.

lWHEREFORE, Complainant requests that the Regional Judicial Officer issue a Default

Ord r against the Respondent and therein assess the full amount of the proposed $335,816.00

civi penalty and impose any such further relief to which the Regional Judicial Officer determines

that omplainant is entitled, via execution of the proposed Order that is annexed hereto.

Date .lit 13 2010

Respectfully SUbIDitt(J' .

1iJildr<~/---·A.J. elo~

Chery . Jamieson
Sr. Assistant Regional Counsel (3RC30)
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Region III
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
REGION III

1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103-2029

atter of:

Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc.
HC 84 Box4
New eek Drive
Keyse , West Virginia 26726,

Respondent.

Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc.
New C eek Drive
Keysel1, West Virginia 26726,

Facility.

Docket No.: RCRA-03-2006-0059

Proceeding under Section 3008(a)
and (g), 42 U.S.c. § 6928(a) ofthe Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act

CERTIFICATE QF SERVICE

hereby certify that on the date set forth below, I caused to be hand-delivered to Ms. Lydia
Guy, R gional Hearing Clerk (3RCOO), u.s. EPA Region III, 1650 Arch Street, :J" Floor, Philadelphia,
PA 19lP3-2029, the original and one copy of the foregoing Motion for a Default Order, supporting
Memorandum of Law and Exhibits, and a proposed form of an Order for Default, in the above­
caption~d matter. I further certify that on the date set forth below, I caused true and correct copies of
the s~b to be served upon each of the following persons at the following addresses and in the manner
identifiid below:

ria Hand Delivery to:

~enee Sarajian
Regional Judicial Officer (3RCOO)
V.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region III
1650 Arch Street

l
hiladClPhia, PA 19103-2019.

. ia, Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, Po~age Prepaid, to:

Ij-awrence Kessel, President Steven Shuman, Esquire
!f;essel Lumber Supply, Inc. Reeder & Shuman
IjIC 84 Box 4 256 High Street
J:jlew Creek Drive Morgantown, WV 26507
Keyser, West Virginia 26726 (Article No. 7004289000005075 70881
(Mrticle No. 7004289000005075 7071)

.J. D """""
Sr. As . t Regional Counsel (3RC30)
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region III
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029
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In tIe Matter of:

Kes el Lumber Supply, Inc.
RC 84Box4

Netcreek Drive
Ke er, West Virginia 26726,

Respondent.

Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc.
Ne I Creek Drive
Key er, West Virginia 26726,

Facility.

Docket No.: RCRA-03-2006-0059

Proceeding under Section 3008(a)
and (g), 42 U.S.c. § 6928(a) of ~he
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act

,

I
1:

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF COMPLAINANT'S
MOTION FOR A DEFAULT ORDER

The United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region III ("Complainant"),
resp ctfully submits this Memorandum of Law in support of its Motion for the issuance of a
Defdult Order against Respondent, Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc., for its failure to file a timely
Anster in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.15(a) of the Consolidated Rules 0/Practice
Govlfrning the Administrative Assessment o/Civil Penalties and the RevocationlTermination or
SUSPI nsion o/Permits ("Consolidated Rules"), 40 C.F.R. Part 22.

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was commenced with an Administrative Complaint, Compliance Order and
Rig to Request a Hearing ("Complaint") which was filed with the Regional Hearing Clerk on
September 12,2006, pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"),
Sectifn 3008(a) and (g), 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(a) and (g). In the thirteen-count Complaint,
Complainant alleged that the Respondent violated RCRA Subtitle C, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6921 et seq.,
and t e authorized West Virginia Hazardous Waste Management Regulations ("WVHWMR').
Title 33, Leg. Rule, Division of Environmental Protection, Office of Waste Management, Series
20, P s 33-20-1 through 33-20-15.

Specifically, the Complaint alleged that Respondent operated a hazardous waste storage
facili without a permit or interim status, failed to have a contingency plan for the Facility,
faile to have a closure plan for the Facility, failed to have contingent post-closure plans for the
drip Jad and specified tanks at the Facility, failed to provide site security, failed to demonstrate
finanbal assurance, failed to obtain written assessments for two tanks that did not have
secoddary containment, failed to obtain a written assessment for a wood treatment drip pad,
faile to meet the hydraulic conductivity requirement for the drip pad, failed to inspect the drip
pad eekly and after storms, and failed to properly store land-disposal restricted waste.



A true and correct copy of the Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. A copy of the
sig ed original Complaint, and of the Consolidated Rules, was served upon the Respondent on
September 12,2006 by Federal Express Overnight Delivery. Federal Express is "a reliable
co~ercial delivery service that provides written verification of delivery", ~thin the meaning of
40 <tF.R. § 22.5(b)(l). The Respondent and Respondent's counsel each receIved a copy of the
Co~plaint and of the Consolidated Rules on September 13,2006, as evidenced by the copies of
the edEx Tracking Reports attached as Exhibit 2a and 2b.

In order to effectuate proper service of process of the Complaint, Complainant mailed
(via Federal Express, overnight delivery) a copy of the signed original Complaint, and of the
Con olidated Rules, to two different persons at two separate locations. The first mailing was
ad~ssed to Lawrence Kessel, President, Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc., at the Respondent's
co rate business address, New Creek Drive HC84 Box 4, Keyser, West Virginia 26726. This
Fed ,ral Express mailing was delivered to the Respondent's corporate business address by Federal
Expfess and was accepted by the Respondent's corporate Secretary, Patsy Fink. The associated
Fed~x Tracki~g Report confirm~ Federal Express' deliv~ry oft~s.mailing to the Respondents'
corpprate busmess address, and Its acceptance by Ms. Fink by hstmg "PFINK" as the person to
whom Federal Express made the delivery. Exhibit 2a. See also, Exhibit 2c, an Experian
Busibess Report for Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc. listing "Patsy Fink, Secretary" under "Officers"
of th~s corporation.

IIn addition to service on the corporation, which was received by the Respondent's
corp rate Secretary, a second copy of the signed original Complaint, and of the Consolidated
Rule, was mailed (also via Federal Express, overnight delivery) by Complainant to
Res~ondent's legal counsel, Steven Shuman, Esq., and delivered by Federal Express to Mr.
Shwfan at his 256 High Street, Morgantown, WV business address, as confirmed via the
assoeiated Fedex Tracking Report. Exhibit 2b. In a telephone conversation of October 31, 2006,
coun~el for Respondent indicated to Ms. Cheryl Jamieson, counsel for Complainant, that
Res ndent was in receipt of the Complaint, and that Respondent would not file an Answer to
the omplaint.

Complainant's service of the Complaint and of the Consolidated Rules upon the
Resp ndent's corporate Secretary constitutes sufficient service pursuant to 40 C.F.R.
§ 22. (b)(l), which provides that:

(i) Complainant shall serve on respondent, or a representative authorized to
receive service on respondent's behalf, a copy of the signed original of the
complaint, together with a copy of these Consolidated Rules of Practice. Service
shall be made personally, by certified mail with return receipt requested, or by any
reliable commercial delivery service that provides written verification of delivery.

(ii)(A) Where respondent is a domestic or foreign corporation, a partnership, or an
unincorporated association which is subject to suit under a common name,
complainant shall serve an officer, partner, a managing or general agent, or any

2



other person authorized by appointment or by Federal or State law to receive
service of process.

Applicable case law clarifies what constitutes sufficient service of a complaint on a
resp ndent or representative. In Katzorl Brothers, Inc. v. United States Environmental Protection
Age cy, 839 F.2d 1396 (lot" Cir. 1988), the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit
determined that when service is to be made on a corporation, the Consolidated Rules merely
requ{re that the letter sending the complaint be properly addressed, rather than actually delivered,
to an officer, partner, agent, or other authorized representative. /d. at 1399.

We believe the relevant sections of EPA's Consolidated Rules do not require­
direct personal service. . .. Service to a "representative" encompasses a personal
secretary ... who regularly receives and signs for certified mail. If
"representative" was intended to be narrowly read to include only officers,
partners, and agents, it would have been further qualified to incorporate the
specific classes of persons mentioned in the second section.

/d.

The atzon court further found that "... when service is effectuated by certified mail, the letter
need[only be addressed, rather than actually delivered, to an officer, partner, agent, or other
authmrized individual." The court held that Section 22.5(b)(l)(i)-(ii)(A) of the Consolidated
Rule1 "... ensures that the representative who actually receives the mail will know to whom it
should be delivered. Any other interpretation would severely hinder service of process on
corp~rationsby certified mail, since the postal service employee would have to wait on the
corp~ration's premises until the officer, partner, or agent could sign the return receipt." Id. In
addition, "a person who signs a certified mail receipt green card and picks up mail at a
resP9ndent's business post office box is authorized to-receive service of process under the Rules
ofPr~ctice." See In the Matter o/Herman Roberts, Docket No. OPA 99-512, 2000 EPA RJO
LElqS 211 (RJO, "Order," April 14, 2000). Although the delivery method in the instant case
was an overnight commercial delivery service and not certified mail by the U. S. Postal Service,
the mhalysis above as to proper service should not differ.

I The Complainant originally proposed the assessment of an administrative penalty against
the R~spondent in the amount of the statutory maximum pursuant to Section 3008(a)(3) and (g)
of RqRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(3) and (g). Since that time, a specific proposed penalty in the
amo~~t of$335,816.00 has been calculated by the Complainant and it is a penalty in this amount
whicn is now being sought. The proposed penalty is based upon information available to EPA at
this ti~e, the statutory penalty factors! set forth in Section 3008(a)(3) ofRCRA, 42 U.S.c. §
6928 a)(3), the guidelines in EPA's October, 1990 RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, as revised in
June, 003 ("RCRA Civil Penalty Policy") attached hereto as Exhibit 3 and the appropriate

j I The statutory penalty factors include: the seriousness of the violation and any good faith efforts by
Respo dent to comply with the applicable requirements. ReRA § 3008(a)(3), 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(3).
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Adjjstment ofCivil Monetary Penalties for Injlation, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19 and the
Sep ember 21, 2004 memorandum by Acting EPA Assistant Administrator Thomas V. Skinner
enti led, Modifications to EPA Penalty Policies to Implement the Civil Monetary Penalty
Injl tion Adjustment Rule (" Skinner Memorandum"),] attached hereto as Exhibit 4. See also
De~ration ofJeanna R. Henry in Support ofthe United States Environmental Protection
Age cy's Proposed Penalty in the Matter ofKessel Lumber Supply Company, Inc., EPA Docket
No. CRA-03-2006-0059 (hereinafter, Declaration ofJeanna R. Henry), attached hereto as
Exh'bit 5. .

II. ARGUMENT

A. The Respondent is in Default under 40 C.F.R. § 22.17(a)

Section 22.17(a) ofthe Consolidated Rules states that:

(a) Default. A party may be found to be in default: after motion, upon
failure to file a timely answer to the complaint; upon failure to comply with the
information exchange requirements of § 22. I9(a) or an order of the Presiding
Officer; or upon failure to appear at a conference or hearing.

'.F.R. § 22.17(a) (emphasis added).

Mor over, "[w]hen the Presiding Officer finds that default has occurred, [s]he shall issue a
defa It order against the defaulting party as to any or all parts of the proceeding unless the record
sho s good cause why a default order should not be issued." 40 C.F.R. § 22.17(c) (emphasis
add . EPA administrative law judges have recognized that a default order generally should be
issu d when there has been a failure to comply with an order without "good cause". In the
Matt r ofTanana Corp. and Tri-Angle Corp., EPA Docket No. RCRA-03-2003-0263 (1.
o ,ing, Jul. 29,2004, at 3, In the Matter ofJack Golden, EPA Docket No. CWA-I 0-99-0 I 88
(1. 0rl nning, Oct. 6, 2000), at fn. 6.

To date, Resp~ndent has failed to file an Answer, as required by 40 C.F.R. § 22.15(a),
which provides, in pertinent part, that a written answer to a complaint must be filed with the
Regifnal Hearing Clerk within thirty days after service ofthe complaint. On October 31, 2006,

. countel for Respondent stated to counsel for Complainant that Respondent did not, and does not
inten: to, file an Answer to the Complaint for the following reasons: (I) Respondent has ceased
oper [tions and is no longer in the wood treatment business; (2) Respondent does not have assets

2 Pursuant to 40 C.f.R. Part 19, and as provided in the Skinner Memorandum and in theRCRA Civil
Penal Policy, penalties for RCRA violations occurring after January 30, 1991 were increased by 10% to account
for in~ation, not to exceed a $21,500.00 per violation statutory maximum penalty. Pursuant to 40 C.f.R. Part 19,
and as provided in the Skinner Memorandum, penalties for RCRA violationsoccurring after March 15, 2004 and
before January 13,2009 have been increased by an additional 11.23% to account for subsequent inflation, not to
excee a $32,500.00 per violation statutory maximum penalty.
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suf lcient to pay a penalty or to perfonn injunctive relief, and (3) Respondent has numerous
unrJsolved claims filed against it by its creditors, and the Internal Revenue Service.

!
,

As discussed more fully infra, Respondent's claim of financial problems, even if valid,
doe not constitute "good cause" why a default order should not be granted. Respondent's failure
to a swer the complaint constitutes a clear default under the Consolidated Rules. 40 C.F.R. §
22. I7(a). Accordingly, the Regional Judicial Officer should enter a Default Order against the
Resfondent. '

I B. A Default by the Respondent Constitutes an Admission of All Facts Alleged
in the Complaint and a Waiver of Respondent's Right to Contest Such
Allegations

Section 22.I7(a) of the Consolidated Rules provides, in relevant part, that:

Default by respondent constitutes, for purposes of the pending proceeding only, an
admission of all facts alleged in the complaint and a waiver of respondent's right
to contest such factual allegations.

40 .F.R. § 22.17(a). The mandatory language of 40 C.F.R. § 22. I7(a) requires the Presiding
Offi I er to accept as true all of the facts alleged in the Complaint. In the Matter ofTanana Corp.
and [ri-Angle Corp., EPA Docket No. RCRA-03-2003-0263 (J. Gunning, Jul. 29,2004, at 3).
Ther fore, upon detennination by the Regional Judicial Officer that the Respondent is in default,
the espondent will be deemed to have admitted all of the facts alleged in the Complaint and will
have waived the right to contest such allegations.

The Complaint alleges facts in support of each element of each claim arising from each
viol ion in Counts I through XIII in the Complaint, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 1. The
facts alleged in the Complaint - and deemed admitted - are sufficient to establish
ResPI ndent's liability for each of such violations of Section 3008(a) ofRCRA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 6928(a), and of the WVHWMR, by a preponderance of the evidence. Accordingly, the
Regibnal Judicial Officer should enter a Default Order finding that Respondent violated Section
3008 a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), and the WVHWMR, as set forth in Counts I through
XIII f such Complaint.

C. The Proposed Penalty is Consistent with the Record Evidence and the Law

The Respondent's failure to comply with each of the regulations alleged t6 have been
viola d in Counts 1 through XlII of the Complaint subjects the Respondent to liability for civil
penal\ies. Section 3008(g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(g), provides in relevant part that any
pers0r. who violates any requirement ofRCRA Subtitle C, 42 U.S.c. §§ 692I-693ge, or
provi ions of an authorized state program, shall be liable for a civil penalty not to exceed
$25,0 0 for each day of violation. The Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 ("DCA") and
the s sequent Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule, 40 C.F.R. Part 19 ("Penalty

I
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Inflftion Rule"), increase the maximum civil penalty that can be assessed by EPA under RCRA
for ~ach violation occurring on or after January 30, 1997 by 10%, to $27,500 per day, and for

eaclilvi:::i::;:::7:rgd::::ht~:'::::::~::~:::~:~:e::~:~ ::::i::

O

per day.

300 (a)(3), 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(3), requires EPA to take into account the seriousness of the
viol~tion and any good faith efforts by Respondent to comply with the applicable requirements.
RCIt-A does not include ability to pay as one of the factors that EPA must consider in assessing a
pendlty, and therefore, Respondent's ability to pay the proposed amount is not an element of
CoJplainant's proof. In the Matter ofBil-Dry Corp., EPA Docket No. RCRA-III-264 (1.

I
McGuire, Oct. 8, 1998), at 19, citing In the Matter ofCentral Paint and Body Shop, Inc., RCRA
Appbal No. 86-3,2 E.A.D. 309, 313-314, 1987 EPA App. LEXIS 8 (Final Decision, Jan. 7,

I I

I 98I)' !

In developing the proposed penalty, Complainant was guided by theRCRA Civil Penalty
Poli y. See Exhibit 3. This policy provides a rational, consistent and equitable methodology for
applring the statutory penalty factors enumerated above to the specific facts and circumstances of
this case. Under RCRA, the ability of a violator to pay a proposed penalty is not a factor that the
Age cy must consider in assessing a penalty. Under the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, a
com, any's inability to pay usually will be considered only if the issue is raised by the respondent
RC Civil Penalty Policy, at 39.

The burden of raising and presenting evidence regarding any inability to pay a particular
penalty rests with the respondent, as it does with any mitigating circumstances. Thus, a
company's inability to pay usually will be considered only if the issue is raised by the
respondent. If the respondent fails to fully provide sufficient infonnation, then
enforcement personnel should disregard this factor in adjusting the penalty.

Id.

On August 17, 2005, prior to the filing of the Complaint in the instant case, counsel for
Resp ndent submitted documentation to EPA to support Respondent's claim that it had no ability
to par a civil penalty for alleged RCRA violations at the Facility. A review of such documents
by C<hmplainant revealed that there was insufficient information to make a finding regarding
abilit to pay. On September 19, 2005, Complainant requested additional information from
coun~el for Respondent. A teleconference was held to discuss the previously submitted
info ation and to request additional written information. Although counsel for Respondent
parti ipated in the teleconference, Respondent failed to provide additional written documentation
reque ted by Complainant. Without such additional information, Complainant was unable to
make an inability to pay determination. See Exhibit 6, Memorandum ofLeo J Mullin, EPA Cost
Reco ery Expert.

Since the filing of the Complaint, Complainant has learned that Respondent has ceased
operations at the Facility. Complainant also learned that the EPA Region III Hazardous Site
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Cleanup Division (hereinafter, "HSCD") Cost Recovery Branch issued an information request
lettdr to Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc. under the authority of Section 104(e) of the Comprehensive
EnJ~ronmentalResponse, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended ("CERCLA"),
42 N.S.C. Section 9604(e). In that information request letter, dated October 3, 2007, HSCD
sou.ht financial information about the company, its principal owners and its business
relationships. In December 2007, Kessel Lumber Supply, Inc. provided information responsive,
in plut, to the information request letter. Complainant has leamed that the information request
lettdr was prompted by HSCD's performance of a Removal Site Evaluation of the Facility in the
spnlng of 2007 which revealed that wood-treatment operations conducted by the Respondent
we~lthe source of ongoing releases of arsenic and other hazardous substances into the
envibnment and that such releases posed an actual threat to human health, welfare and the
env~onmentand HSCD's anticipated need to engage in removal activities and expend federal
Sup rfund monies at the Facility (which did, in fact. occur over the period of April 2008 through
Sep 'ember 2008). See Declaration ofJeanna R. Henry, Exhibit 5 at 3 - 4. Complainant has
reviewed such additional information but is unable to determine the remaining assets that the
Res~ondentmay have available to pay the proposed civil penalty. See Exhibit 8, Memorandum
ofGrry Morton, EPA Environmental Protection Specialist. Therefore, an adjustment to the
asse~sed penalty based on Respondent's claim of inability to pay a penalty was not made.

Pursuant to the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy, an initial gravity-based penalty was calculated
for 9ach violation based on two components: the potential for harm of the violation and the
extent of deviation from the applicable requirement. The results of that analysis was used to
seleJt corresponding penalty values for single day and multi-day violations from the penalty
ma~ces published in the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy. The initial penalty for each violation was
adjusted in accordance with the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy to account for other factors including
any kood faith efforts to comply with the applicable requirements, and any willfulness or
negligence. In addition to the gravity-based penalty, theRCRA Civil Penalty Policy recommends
that benalty assessments capture any significant economic benefit that Respondent realized as a
resuJt of noncompliance.

lThe Complainant proposes the assessment of a total civil penalty of $335,816.00. The
EPA Region III employee who calculated the proposed penalty, Jeanna R. Henry, considered the
statu10ry penalty factors identified at Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U;S.c. § 6928(a), theRc;RA
Civi~Penalty Policy and the appropriate inflation adjustment, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 19 and
the ~kinnerMemorandum. See Declaration ofJeanna R. Henry, attached as Exhibit 5. A
surrupary of each violation alleged in the Complaint is set forth in Exhibit 7a and the proposed
p~natty rationale for each alleged violation is fully discussed in the Declaration ofJeanna R.
Hen'Dl (Exhibit 5) and in the associated Penalty Computation Worksheets, attached as Exhibit 7b.
Eachl rationale is based upon facts which were alleged in the Complaint and which, upon a
findihg of default, are deemed admitted.

7



EPA Region III respectfully submits that the proposed penalty of $335,816.00 for the
Res onden!'s RCRA violations is not "clearly inconsistent with the record" in this case or with
RC , and that, in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.17(c), the payment of the proposed penalty
shohld be ordered.

III. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Complainant requests that the Court enter a Default
Ord r assessing the proposed penalty of $335,816.00 against the Respondent in the form of the
prot:!osed Order for Default that is attached hereto.

Respectfully submitted

Oat d: __..Ill__l~3_2IIlO _ ~~::::;:;0~~
A.I.D' g 0

Cheryl L. amieson
Sr. Assistant Regional Counsel (3RC30)
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Region III
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103·2029
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EXHIBITS

xhibit I Administrative Complaint and Notice ofOpportunity for Hearing (Docket No.
I . Re;:RA-03-2006-0059)

1
Xhibits 2(a - c) - redex Tracking Reports

xhibit 3. - RCRA Civil Penalty Policy
!

l
Xhibit 4. sep.tember 2 I, 2004 Memorandum by Acting EPA Assistant Administrator

Thomas V. Skinner entitled, Modifications to EPA Penalty Policies to Implement
the Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule (" Skinner Memorandum")

I

B]Xhibit 5. De~laration ofJeanna R. Henry in Support ofthe United States Environmental
Protection Agency's Proposed Penalty in the Matter ofKessel Lumber Supply
Company, Inc., EPA Docket No. RCRA-03-2006-0059

i

rhibit 6. Me;:orandum ofLeo J. Mullin, EPA Cost Recovery Expert

Erhibit 7(a) - SU7mary ofViolations

EJxhibit 7(b) - Penalty Computation Worksheets

Ahibit 8 - Me~orandum ofGary Morton, EPA Environmental Protection Specialist
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